ETH zürich

ENERGYSCAPE – Recommendations for a Landscape Strategy for Renewable Energy Systems

Report

Author(s):

Wissen Hayek, Ulrike (D); Spielhofer, Reto (D); Salak, Boris; Hunziker, Marcel; Kienast, Felix; Thrash, Tyler; Schinazi, Victor R.; Luthe, Tobias (D); Steiger, Urs; Grêt-Regamey, Adrienne (D)

Publication date: 2019-07-09

Permanent link: https://doi.org/10.3929/ethz-b-000383049

Rights / license: In Copyright - Non-Commercial Use Permitted

Funding acknowledgement: 173808 - ENERGYSCAPE: Landscape strategy for renewable energy systems (SNF)



Schweizerische Eidgenossenschaft Confédération suisse Confederazione Svizzera Confederaziun svizra Department of the Environment, Transport, Energy and Communication DETEC

Swiss Federal Office of Energy SFOE Energy Research

Final report from 09.07.2019

ENERGYSCAPE

Recommendations for a Landscape Strategy for Renewable Energy Systems



© Reto Spielhofer & Ulrike Wissen Hayek 2019

ETH zürich

Date: 09.07.2019

Place: Zurich

Publisher: Swiss Federal Office of Energy SFOE Energy Research CH-3003 Bern www.bfe.admin.ch energieforschung@bfe.admin.ch

Co-financed by:

Swiss National Science Foundation (SNSF) National Research Programme NRP 70 "Energy Turnaround" CH-3001 Bern www.snf.ch

Federal Office of the Environment (FOEN) CH-3003 Bern www.bafu.admin.ch

Elektrizitätswerke des Kantons Zürich (EKZ) CH-8901 Urdorf www.ekz.ch

Swissgrid AG CH-5001 Aarau www.swissgrid.ch

Swiss Federal Institute for Forest, Snow and Landscape Research (WSL) CH-8903 Birmensdorf <u>www.wsl.ch</u>

Binding Stiftung CH-4020 Basel www.binding-stiftung.ch

Agent:

ETH Zürich Institute for Spatial and Landscape Development, Planning of Landscape and Urban Systems (PLUS) <u>www.plus.ethz.ch</u> and Department of Humanities, Social and Political Sciences, Chair of Cognitive Science (COG) CH-8093 Zürich <u>https://cog.ethz.ch</u>

Swiss Federal Institute for Forest, Snow and Landscape Research (WSL) Economics and Social Sciences, Social Sciences in Landscape Research and Land Change Science, Land-Use Systems CH-8903 Birmensdorf www.wsl.ch

steiger texte konzepte beratung Urs Steiger CH-6003 Luzern

Authors:

Dr. Ulrike Wissen Hayek, PLUS, ETH Zürich, <u>wissen@nsl.ethz.ch</u> Reto Spielhofer, PLUS, ETH Zürich, <u>spreto@ethz.ch</u> Dr. Boris Salak, WSL, <u>boris.salak@wsl.ch</u> Dr. Marcel Hunziker, WSL, <u>marcel.hunziker@wsl.ch</u> Prof. Dr. Felix Kienast, WSL, <u>felix.kienast@wsl.ch</u> Dr. Tyler Thrash, Chair of Cognitive Science, ETH Zürich, <u>tyler.thrash@gess.ethz.ch</u> Dr. Victor Schinazi, Chair of Cognitive Science, ETH Zürich, <u>victor.schinazi@gess.ethz.ch</u> Dr. Tobias Luthe, PLUS, ETH Zürich, <u>luthet@ethz.ch</u> Urs Steiger, steiger texte konzepte beratung, <u>u.steiger@bluewin.ch</u> Prof. Dr. Adrienne Grêt-Regamey, PLUS, ETH Zürich, <u>gret@ethz.ch</u>

SFOE head of domain:	Katja Maus, katja.maus@bfe.admin.ch
SFOE programme manager:	Katja Maus, katja.maus@bfe.admin.ch
SFOE contract number:	SI/501587-01

The authors of this report bear the entire responsibility for the content and for the conclusions drawn therefrom.

Summary

Within the scope of the NRP 70 project «ENERGYSCAPE», social preferences for landscape development with a combination of different infrastructures of renewable energy systems are systematically investigated in an online panel survey and a laboratory experiment. The preferences for the investigated landscape scenarios can be explained by the landscape and the perception of its structure, by physiological reactions to the scenarios as well as by connotations to the landscape and to renewable energy infrastructures. The results provide the basis for recommendations that can help to promote a socially accepted landscape development with renewable energy systems.

Zusammenfassung

Im Rahmen des NFP 70-Projekts «ENERGYSCAPE» werden gesellschaftliche Präferenzen für eine Landschaftsentwicklung mit einer Kombination verschiedener Infrastrukturen erneuerbarer Energiesysteme mit einer Online-Panel-Befragung und einem Laborexperiment systematisch untersucht. Welche der untersuchten Landschaftsszenarien bevorzugt werden, erklärt sich durch die Landschaft und die Wahrnehmung ihrer Struktur, durch physiologische Reaktionen auf die Szenarien sowie durch Bedeutungszuweisungen zur Landschaft und zu erneuerbaren Energieinfrastrukturen. Die Ergebnisse liefern die Basis für Empfehlungen die helfen können, eine gesellschaftlich akzeptierte Landschaftsentwicklung mit erneuerbaren Energiesystemen zu fördern.

Résumée

Dans le cadre du projet «ENERGYSCAPE» du PNR 70, les préférences sociales en matière d'aménagement paysager combinant différentes infrastructures de systèmes d'énergies renouvelables sont systématiquement analysées par une enquête par Internet et une étude de laboratoire. Le choix des scénarios paysagers étudiés s'explique par le paysage et la perception de sa structure, par les réactions physiologiques aux scénarios et par l'attribution de sens au paysage et aux infrastructures d'énergies renouvelables. Les résultats de ces recherches servent de base à des recommandations qui peuvent aider à promouvoir un aménagement paysager socialement acceptée avec des systèmes d'énergie renouvelable.



Contents

0

1	Introduction	8
2	Context	8
2.1	Background	8
2.2	Motivation of the Project	9
2.3	Goals	9
3	Approach and Methodology	. 10
3.1	Preference Study	. 11
3.1.1	Concept	. 11
3.1.2	Selecting "Vistas"	. 12
3.1.3	Preparation of Stimuli	. 14
3.1.4	Identification of Influencing Aspects	. 18
3.1.5	Laboratory Experiment: Design	. 18
3.1.6	Online Panel Survey: Design	20
3.2	Development of Recommendations	. 23
4	Results	. 24
4.1	Physiological Responses to the LOW and the HIGH Scenarios	. 24
4.2	Preferences for the Landscape Scenarios with Renewable Energy Systems (RES)	. 24
4.3	Comparison of the Arousal Response with the Stated Preferences for the LOW and the HIG Scenarios	6H . 25
4.4	Impact of the Scenarios on the View of the Landscape	. 25
5	Discussion of results	. 26
5.1	Answers on the Research Questions	. 26
5.2	Recommendations	. 27
6	Conclusions	. 28
7	Publications [within the project]	. 29
8	References	. 31

List of abbreviations

NRP	National Research Programme
nSCR	Number of Skin Conductance Responses
RES	Renewable Energy Systems
RPG	Raumplanungsgesetz
RPV	Raumplanungsverordnung
UVPV	Verordnung über die Umweltverträglichkeitsprüfung

1 Introduction

One of the strategic pillars of the Swiss Federal Council to offset the loss in electricity production from nuclear energy is to noticeably increase the use of renewable energy systems (BFE 2018a). Massive expansion of the new infrastructures has impacts on our landscapes and the services they provide – a main factor influencing social acceptance of the new renewable energy systems. Successful implementation of these new technologies in a landscape, however, requires strong social acceptance (Wolsink 2012). In Switzerland, renewable energy systems are generally supported, but public conflicts at the local level are increasing the closer the process gets to implementation (Hübner et al. 2013).

Hence, the sustainable use of renewable energy resources can only be achieved if its spatial dimensions are taken into consideration (Stoeglehner et al. 2011). The European Union has defined various guidelines for integrating specific renewable energy infrastructures into the landscapes. Examples are the development of wind parks in accordance with the EU nature legislation (EU 2011), the Maritime Spatial Planning (European Commission 2008), or the guidelines for environmental impact assessments (EU 2012). All these instruments, however, address only a single renewable energy infrastructure. In Switzerland, an environmental impact assessment at the cantonal level, which includes a landscape impact assessment, comes into action when planned wind energy infrastructures or photovoltaic systems that are not building-integrated produce more than 5 MW (UVPV, 2016, Anhang 21 Erzeugung von Energie). Further, Art. 18a Abs. 1 of the RPG and Art. 32a Abs. 1 RPV describe which solar energy projects need to be reported. At the Federal level, there exist sectoral plans for transmission lines and wind parks (ARE 2019). However, comparable to Europe, the spatial coordination of tasks is linked to a single energy system. There are no instruments allowing the planning of a mix of renewable energy systems and assess their landscape effects and public acceptance in Switzerland. Yet, the diversity of Swiss landscapes with their services calls for spatially explicit guidelines and strategies to plan and coordinate the landscape changes coming along with the development of the required infrastructures needed to reach the energy turnaround.

2 Context

2.1 Background

A huge amount of literature exists trying to explain people's perception and evaluation of large-scale renewable energy technologies (e.g. Apostol et al. 2017). Several factors have been identified, which influence people's evaluations of renewable energy projects and the social acceptance of renewable energy infrastructures. These factors include age, gender, income, education, socio-psychological factors, such as knowledge and experience concerning particular technologies, as well as environmental and political beliefs, and procedural aspects of the planning and implementation phase (e.g., Clayton et al. 2015; Devine-Wright 2007, 2011; Cohen et al. 2014; Huijts et al. 2012; Zoellner et al. 2008). One important aspect that influences the evaluation of renewable energy projects (existing or planned), however, is the perceived landscape impact of renewable energy infrastructures (Wolsink 2007a, 2007b; Cohen et al. 2014; Wüstenhagen et al. 2007; Strazzera et al. 2012; Ek and Persson 2014; Torres-Sibille et al. 2009a, 2009b; Molina-Ruiz et al. 2011; Lennon and Scott 2015; Graham et al. 2009; Devine-Wright & Howes 2010; Scognamiglio 2016; Manyoky et al. 2016). Several authors show that judgments of renewable energy systems such as wind turbines or ground-mounted photovoltaic systems not only depend on the infrastructure itself, but also on the evaluation of the surrounding landscape (Bishop 2011; Strazzera et al. 2012; Molnarova et al. 2012; Wolsink 2007a; Spiess et al. 2015; Michel et al. 2015; Manyoky 2015).



In addition, not only the physical change of the landscape per se – provoking immediate affective responses – is important, but also the cognitive sense-making process of the place change and symbolic meanings attached to the installations (Batel and Devine-Wright 2015; Devine-Wright 2011; Devine-Wright and Howes 2010; McLachlan 2010). There is some empirical evidence of the link between sense of place and affective responses (Syme et al. 2000; Woolcock 1998; Eisenhauer et al. 2000), but the last stages of psychological responses of humans when confronted with a change in place (including acceptance and acting with place change), are still poorly understood.

We are well aware that landscape impacts are only one out of many drivers governing social acceptance of renewable energy. Issues such as trust, procedural justice and community benefit funds play an equally important role. These aspects are, however treated in other NRP 70/71 projects (e.g., Acceptance of renewable energy. Prof. Isabelle Stadelmann-Steffen, Universität Bern; Exploring ways towards societal consensus. Prof. Dr. Patricia Holm, Universität Basel; Collective financing of renewable energy, Dr. Irmi Seidl, FE Wirtschafts- und Sozialwissenschaften, WSL, Birmensdorf; see also https://nfp-energie.ch/de/projects).

2.2 Motivation of the Project

In order to successfully implement the solutions developed in the scope of the NRP 70 "Energy Turnaround" and NRP 71 "Managing Energy Consumption" and secure the energy turnaround, we need to foster acceptance of the mix of renewable energy systems and infrastructures in specific landscapes. While we know that perceptual impacts caused by renewable energy systems on a specific landscape type are one of the most important factors in explaining opposition or support for such infrastructures (Wolsink 2007a, 2007b; Jones and Eiser 2010), knowledge about the judgment of landscape effects of a mix of such infrastructures in various landscape contexts is missing. This project focused, thus, on the perceived landscape effects of a mix of renewable energy systems.

Thereby, not only the cognitive but also the affective responses to the landscapes with renewable energy systems should be investigated. The affective responses shall be taken into account because it is known that purely objective landscape measures fall short due to a strong emotion related to landscape values and because landscape perception is both cognitively and affectively influenced (Ulrich 1986; Maehr et al. 2015). Therefore, cognitive data (e.g., explicit preferences) and affective data (e.g., physiological reactions) should be analysed in order to assess proposed landscape changes more comprehensively (Ulrich 1986; Daniel 2001; Devine-Wright 2005; Singh et al. 2008; Maehr et al. 2015; Yu et al. 2017).

2.3 Goals

The overarching research goal of the project was to understand landscape-related public judgments of renewable energy developments in Swiss landscapes and their influence on the acceptability of the related infrastructures. These insights provide the basis for the formulation of recommendations for a prioritization of renewable energy systems (RES) in the Swiss landscapes, which are thought to support the realization of the "Energy Strategy 2050" (BFE 2018a) for Switzerland.

The following research questions were addressed:

- 1. Do the physiological responses to landscape changes with a mix of renewable energy systems correlate with public preferences for the respective scenarios?
- 2. In how far are judgments of the renewable energy systems dependent on the landscape context?
- 3. How are different infrastructures for producing renewable energy systems and their respective landscape changes judged by the Swiss public?



- 4. What further variables have an influence on the preferences for landscape developments with renewable energy systems?
- 5. What is the judgment of the public regarding specific (single) installations and infrastructure types compared with the comprehensive judgment of the whole mix of energy infrastructures (including transmission lines) within a certain landscape?

3 Approach and Methodology

The project focused on assessing public judgements stimulated by a mix of renewable energy systems (RES) within different landscapes of Switzerland. Figure 1 gives an overview of the project workflow. The public judgements were gathered in a preference study comprising (1) a physiological laboratory experiment and (2) a Swiss-representative online panel survey. The results served for evaluating a spatial prioritization for the development of RES. On this basis, recommendations for developing the land-scape with a mix of RES were derived in strong collaboration with a group of experts.



Figure 1: Overview of the project workflow.



3.1 Preference Study

3.1.1 Concept

Various aspects influence the social acceptance of landscape changes through a mix of renewable energy infrastructures (Figure 2). Landscape related factors such as knowledge and values about the environment and the landscape, as well as landscape services such as the provision of habitats for animals and plants or cultural heritage including landscape aesthetics, influence acceptance (Wolsink 2007b; Hastik et al. 2015; Tabi & Wüstenhagen 2015; Kienast et al. 2017). But also aspects that are not landscape-related have an influence. For example, the perception of and opinion on renewable energy systems can have an impact on the people's acceptance of landscape developments with these systems (Devine-Wright 2007; van der Horst 2007), as well as the assessment of individual or societal costs and benefits or attitudes to politics and climate change (Bronfman et al. 2012; Hübner et al. 2013; Cohen et al. 2014; Stadelmann-Steffen et al. 2018).

However, the perceived impacts on landscape appearance and related services are identified as one of the major reasons for public opposition towards RE projects within the scientific literature (Scognamiglio 2016; Torres-Sibille et al. 2009). This circumstance is concisely summarized by Scognamiglio (2016, 629): "Landscape is the spatial and cultural medium through which the perception of the energy generation by RES happens, and the social acceptance of RES passes therefore also through the acceptance of a certain modified landscape". Hence, in this project, we systematically measure public preferences for a range of landscape scenarios with renewable energy systems and take these preferences as proxy for approximating social acceptance.



Figure 2: Simplified conceptual model of the influences of different aspects on the preferences for landscape developments with renewable energy systems.

A preference study was designed to systematically examine how the Swiss population perceives and evaluates the mix of renewable energy systems in different landscapes. The focus was on identifying those aspects that are particularly relevant for the preference statements. Therefore, preferences were measured in two ways: With a laboratory experiment and with an online panel survey representative throughout Switzerland. These two approaches are complementary and enable the respective strengths to be used and the weaknesses of the individual methods to be reduced.

In the laboratory experiment, the unconscious, spontaneous reactions on different scenarios of landscape developments with a mix of renewable energy systems were measured with skin conductance



response under controlled conditions. Skin conductance response is a valid indicator for the state of arousal or attention (Critchely 2002; Bradley et al. 2007). In the context of this study, measured skin conductance assesses the strength of an affective response to landscape changes caused by renewable energy systems. In addition, cognitive aspects of landscape assessment were queried in order to gain a better understanding of the perception of energy landscapes in combination with physiological measurements. However, in this experiment, only a total of 105 subjects at ETH Zurich and 35 subjects in Lucerne could participate and the focus was on comparatively few aspects. But in return, due to the controlled conditions, the laboratory experiment provides a high measuring validity.

The online panel survey, on the other hand, was representative of Switzerland. The participants (n = 1065) completed an online questionnaire, whereby survey effects could not be avoided. Therefore, many scenarios and non-landscape-related aspects were combined in order to get generalizable statements, which aspects have a strong effect on the social acceptance. In particular, the role of the associative and emotional assignments of meaning to places (connotations) or the opinions and meanings assigned to (renewable) energy systems were examined.

As a common basis for both approaches, 3D visualizations of seven landscapes with a mix of renewable energy systems were used. However, the laboratory experiment focused on a set of 14 scenarios, while the online panel survey used considerably more scenarios. Overall, the results of the two approaches are complementary and help gaining a deeper insight into the preferences of the public regarding the investigated scenarios.

In the following sections, the preparation of the stimuli, the identification of further non-landscape related influencing factors, the design of the laboratory experiment and the online panel survey respectively are briefly described.

3.1.2 Selecting "Vistas"

As stimuli for the preference study, audio-visual landscape simulations had to be prepared, which illustrate the current situation as well as possible scenarios of a mix of RES in these landscapes. First, the «Vistas», i.e., the specific locations in different landscape types for which these scenarios are generated, had to be defined. This was done in four steps (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Approach for the selection of «Vistas».

First, with an analysis of the energy potential of the important landscapes (> 1000 km²) in Switzerland (Segura Morán et al. 2014, Kienast et al. 2017) the most relevant landscape types for renewable energy production were identified for the study. Second, possible locations in these landscapes types were



selected in deskwork. Esri ArcMap, Google Earth and Google Street View were used to check if suitable perspectives that show the potential RES from a pedestrian perspective are available.

Third, the selection of possible locations for «Vistas» was presented and discussed in the first Expert Group Workshop (May 8, 2017). The participants of the Expert Group represent different actors in the scope of landscape development with RES: representatives of authorities (BAFU, BFE, ARE), energy providers (EKZ, SBB, Swissgrid), consultants (Meteotest, Laserdata GmbH, Swissolar, Swiss Eole), associations and foundations (BPUK, KBNL, Stiftung Landschaftsschutz Schweiz, VLP-ASPAN, Bind-ing-Stiftung, Greina Stiftung), and science (WSL, ZHAW).

In the fourth step, the experts' feedback gathered in the workshop on the full selection of locations, and per e-mail on the subsequent set of locations resulting from the discussion, informed the final decision on the locations for «Vistas» (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Vistas in seven characteristic landscapes of Switzerland: (1) Urbanized Plateau, (2) Agricultural Plateau, (3) Jura, (4) Pre-Alps, (5) Urbanized Alpine Areas, (6) Touristic Alpine Areas, (7) Further Alpine Areas.

The vistas are representative for all greater geographical areas of Switzerland (Jura, Central Plateau, Prealps, Alps, and Southern Alps) and show a typical landscape structure. Furthermore, the vistas comprise locations with different settlement densities. Locations with low to high percentage of living, working, and industrial land use, as well as infrastructure for transportation and energy were selected. In particular, also locations in a peripheral valley and a location in the high mountains were included to investigate public preferences for the mix of renewable energy systems in landscapes with low intensities of use. One alpine location contains tourism infrastructure (ski lifts) so that the combination of renewable energy systems with these infrastructures could be explored. Overall, these vistas illustrate seven different Swiss character landscapes.



3.1.3 Preparation of Stimuli

Visualization of the Vistas of the Character Landscapes

The visualization of the vistas (Figure 5) was based on LiDAR (Light Detection and Ranging) data in order to represent the individual, characteristic shape and colour of the landscape elements. Therefore, we collected cantonal Airborne Laser Scanning (ALS) data and scanned the landscape at the specific locations with a Terrestrial Laser Scanner (RIEGL VZ 1000). The latter was necessary because the airborne laser scans do not provide sufficient data from pedestrian perspective. Implementing RiSCAN Pro (RIEGL), the point cloud data was then post-processed and colorized with photos taken simultaneously with the scans. In case of the ALS data we used the software LIS Pro 3D (Laserdata GmbH) for their colorization with orthophotos.



Figure 5: Workflow of the preparation of audio-visual stimuli.

For further editing of the atmosphere and the sky, the point cloud data was imported into the 3D modelling and rendering application Cinema 4D (MAXON). In the basic 3D models significant landscape objects discovering the specific location, e.g., well-known mountain formations, were removed and characteristic built landscape objects, such as typical stables or urban settlement patterns, were added in some scenes. Then, further fine-tuning of the scene settings (colours, lightning, focal depth etc.) was done in order to produce a consistent visual appearance. This resulted in renderings of the current situation of all seven vistas.

Development of the RES scenarios

As a next step, scenarios were developed for the seven vistas that illustrate different intensities of a mix of renewable energy systems at these locations. Thereby, it was aimed at a comparable visual impact of the energy infrastructure between the landscapes. This means that the visual impact of wind energy and PV infrastructures was first defined in the maximum scenario "HIGH". Based on this, a minimum scenario "LOW" and a scenario "MEDIUM" with an impact between the minimum and maximum scenario were derived (Table 1). This systematic variation allows differences in perception and preferences to be attributed to either the character landscape or the visual impact of the energy infrastructure.

Scenarios	# Wind Turbines (3,5 MW)	Mean Area of Photovoltaic Panels [m²]
HIGH	10 (15 [*])	18000
MEDIUM	6	9000
LOW	3	4500

Table 1: Characteristics of the scenarios «Wind» and «Photovoltaic (PV)». (*For the online panel survey, where more scenarios could be analyzed than in the laboratory experiment, in addition, a more extreme wind scenario for the "Jura" landscape with 15 wind turbines was created.)

The wind turbines and PV panels were placed in the virtual environments in two steps. First, an initial scenario was designed for the seven vistas. Then, the scenario was altered manually based on iterative calculations of the visual impact of the infrastructures for each scenario level. A separate approach was applied for wind energy (Brahms and Peters 2012; Torkler and Zeidler 2013) and for PV systems (Torres-Sibille et al. 2009). In several iterations, the placement of the wind turbines and PV panels was adjusted based on the results in the individual landscape scenes of the vistas until the total ratio of the changed pixels for each scenario level was comparable between the landscapes.

Regarding wind energy, the maximum and minimum number of wind turbines was determined in collaboration with wind energy experts. At a minimum, three wind turbines should be placed, as some cantons also specify this as a threshold value for wind parks (e.g. Kanton Bern, Amt für Gemeinden und Raumordnung 2018). Ten wind turbines were determined as the maximum, as this number was considered realistic for larger wind parks in Switzerland. Additionally, ten turbines can also be plausibly placed in all vistas, although some character landscapes have a generally lower topographical potential for the use of wind energy. No extreme scenarios were generated, but a focus was placed on the sizes of wind parks in Switzerland discussed today. However, to not underestimate the possible landscape developments with wind energy systems in the "Jura" landscape, we included an additional maximum scenario with 15 wind turbines in the online panel survey, where more scenarios could be investigated than in the laboratory experiment. In the middle scenario, the number was set at six wind turbines. This corresponds to a doubling of the minimum scenario and could be generated in all vistas from the maximum scenario by omitting turbines (note: for seven turbines in the "Jura" landscape scene, a turbine in the middle ground would have had to be added).

A different approach was adopted with regard to the placement of PV systems in the vistas. The decisive factor was that the PV systems were visible in the 3D visualizations. For this reason, the roofs (and facades) facing the viewer were fitted with solar panels for the maximum scenario. The actual orientation of the roofs was not always taken into account in the placement. However, care was taken to ensure that the overall orientation of the PV systems in the scenes seemed plausible. In addition, PV systems were placed on open spaces. For their placement, the GIS data by Segura Morán et al. (2014) of the spatial potentials for ground-mounted PV systems on agricultural land as well as on scrublands were used, or plausible areas (e.g. steeper slopes with meadows) were searched for in the respective land-scape scene. For the minimum scenario, it was decided that there should be no ground-mounted PV systems. In the scenarios for the landscapes "Touristic Alpine Areas" and "Further Alpine Areas", however, it could not be avoided, as the PV scenarios here consist primarily of ground-mounted installations.

The models of the wind turbines in the scenarios have a hub height of 117 m and a rotor blade length of 60 m. Wind turbines of this size (e.g. Vestas V126, 3.5 MW) are well suited for the in an international context rather weak to moderate wind conditions in Switzerland. In the case of PV systems, a mix of rooftop-mounted systems with racks and fully integrated systems was visualised, as these forms can be seen in practice. Beyond the year 2050, it is likely that the majority of fully integrated systems will not

attract visual attention. In order to include PV systems in this study, however, they had to be clearly visible. This also means that with regard to landscape aesthetics, the scenarios have lagged behind what is technologically possible today. They represent a point in time with the currently existing technology, which shapes the landscape. Illustrations of the 3D landscape visualizations are shown in Figure 6, presenting the low and the high scenario with a mix of wind and photovoltaic systems. Please note that for the online panel study further 3D visualizations of scenarios with different combinations of the intensity of the respective renewable energy infrastructures were prepared. Only for the online panel survey, scenarios of the seven landscapes including power lines (four pylons placed in the middle ground of the view) were generated.

Audio-Visual Simulation

For the laboratory experiment, the visual representations of the landscapes with the HIGH and the LOW scenario were coupled with environmental sounds. It has been shown that environmental sound increases the vividness and experimental authenticity of the simulated landscapes and intensifies the study participants' immersion into the virtual landscape scenes (Lindquist et al. 2016, Wissen Hayek et al. 2016). To develop consistent sound ambiences for the vistas, we recorded sounds with a sound-field microphone (4-channel, first-order ambisonics microphone) at the specific locations in the landscapes where the point cloud data was collected (June - July 2017). Recordings of about 20 minutes were carried out at different specific moments of the day (morning, midday, afternoon) while taking notes of the sound events. These recordings and listening protocols served as basis for identifying soundmarks. Soundmarks (in analogy to landmarks) are defined as sounds reflecting natural (e.g., streaming water, natural wind traps) or cultural characteristics (e.g., distinctive bells, sounds of traditional activities), and are often the sounds first noticed (Kang 2007: 45, 98). If the quality of the descriptive recording was not sufficient to isolate these identified sounds, another recording was conducted in a more isolated manner, e.g., recording the sounds of cow bells, of typical birds, or of haymaking. We processed and arranged the sounds for each landscape type utilizing the digital audio workstation REAPER (https://www.reaper.fm). Overall, rather ordinary sounds were integrated into the mix to present a realsounding ambience. Finally, the perceived consistency of the sound ambiences with the landscapes was tested and based on the results a fine-tuning of the sounds has been done (Wissen Hayek et al. 2018).



Character Landscape	Scenario LOW	Scenario HIGH
Urbanized Plateau		
Agricultural Plateau		
Jura		
Pre-Alps		
Urbanized Alpine Areas		
Touristic Alpine Areas		
Further Alpine Areas		

Figure 6: 3D point cloud visualizations of the seven character landscapes with the low and the high scenario with renewable energy systems respectively.

3.1.4 Identification of Influencing Aspects

Accompanied by the development of the 3D visualization of the landscape development scenarios, the research additionally focused on landscape and non-landscape related aspects with a possible influence on preferences for landscape developments with RES. A well-known concept for landscape related aspects is given by the Ecosystem Services, which indicate that landscapes are providing services to humans (Haines-Young et al. 2010). One of those services, landscape aesthetics, is already covered by the 3D visualisation. However, aspects with no direct relation to landscapes but a relation to renewable energies (e.g., trust, fairness, efficiency, participation etc.) or the peoples' environmental and renewable energy related knowledge and values (e.g., personal importance of the energy turnaround) had also to be taken into account.

Besides literature analyses, several approaches were applied to collect information about the non-landscape related aspects and to evaluate their importance legitimating to include them in our investigations. In the first Expert Group Workshop a brainstorming session was conducted on criteria that the experts regard important in the context of landscape development with RES in the different landscapes in Switzerland. This resulted in an extended list of criteria such as the contribution to climate protection, protection of areas, incentives and taxes or fees, economic factors, energy production in terms of the amount and the time of production, etc. In addition, reports of NRP 70 / 71 projects were screened for relevant aspects influencing public preferences for RES. Further, about 50 scientific research papers and studies were analysed regarding aspects of social acceptance. This led to an identification of about 70 relevant aspects potentially contributing to social acceptance. In order to ensure that no important aspects were overlooked and to identify the importance of those aspects, a robust selection approach was required. Therefore, the second Expert Group Workshop was conducted in January 2018, where 17 experts from 16 institutions participated. With the help of the workshop participants, another 115 relevant items were developed. Hence, in total 184 relevant aspects were identified.

After normalisation and comparison of both datasets, the aspects were aggregated to a total of 26 main categories. These built the basis for the further development of the study design of both, a post-questionnaire for the laboratory experiment and for the Swiss-representative online panel survey, but with different level of detail. The post-questionnaire of the laboratory experiment predominantly focused on opinions on the environment and renewable energies, trust and fairness, perception of the landscape in their living environment, the personal concernment regarding renewable energies, and socio-demographics. The online panel survey contained further item groups addressing socio-demographic information, place attachment, landscape aesthetics, landscape connotations, the environmental knowledge and values about energy issues, and human-place related aspects.

3.1.5 Laboratory Experiment: Design

The laboratory experiment was carried out in July and August 2018 both at ETH Zurich and at the Laboratorium Luzern (<u>www.laboratorium-luzern.com</u>). At Luzern, the experimental conditions were not perfect for a controlled experiment, because noise from a railway line affected a lot of the sessions. The results are therefore based on the ETH Zurich sample, where a total of 105 participants (19-47 years old (Ø 23.5; SD 4.4), 53 % male, 47 % female, 70.5 % with a university degree, 26 % with some graduate studies, 3.5 % other) took part. These participants were recruited by the University Registration Center for Study Participants (<u>www.uast.uzh.ch</u>) and received 30 CHF for compensation after completing the experiment. Participants were purposefully excluded if they were above 40 years old because of known changes in EDA (Boucsein 2012). All participants were fluent German speakers with normal or corrected-to-normal vision and had no acute or chronic, physical or mental, disorders. The vast majority of the study participants were resident in the character landscape "Urbanized plateau", which is character-ised by settlements and infrastructures.

The scenarios examined in the experiment were the mix of the minimum (LOW) and the maximum (HIGH) scenarios of wind energy and PV systems (Table 1) for all seven character landscapes (Figure 6). After applying and calibrating the electrodes for measuring skin conductance, three pairs (MAX / MAX, MIN / MIN and MIN / MAX or MAX / MIN) were shown to each participant (Figure 7). To avoid familiarization effects, one participant saw a landscape type only once (between subject design). While observing the six landscapes, the change in skin conductance was measured in the first part of the experiment. In addition, the study participants were asked which energy landscape of the pairs shown they liked better. The participants then chose the respective landscape by pressing a button.

In the second part, the participants assessed their perception of the landscape image of the scenarios shown in relation to four basic qualities of the landscape. These qualities concerning the visual landscape structure were based on central concepts of the information processing theory: legibility, mystery, coherence, and complexity (Bourassa 1991; Kaplan & Kaplan 1989; Kienast et al. 2013, 2015). The perceived Legibility indicates how well the landscape allows for orientation. Mystery refers to the degree of further information expectations given by the landscape. Coherence is fostered by clear structures and recurring patterns so that the variety of information results in a coherent picture. Complexity is determined by the perceived variety of different landscape elements and the visual richness (Kienast et al. 2013). These indicators are also included in the Swiss Landscape Monitoring Program LABES (abbreviation for German "Landschaftsbeobachtung Schweiz"). Finally, the participants answered questions on attitudes towards climate change, environment, renewable energies and other socio-demographic aspects of the post-questionnaire.



Figure 7: Procedure of the laboratory experiment.

3.1.6 Online Panel Survey: Design

Based on literature reviews and the expert input from the workshop(s) (see Section 3.1.4) a survey concept was developed (Figure 8). The survey concept consists of two parts. The first part represents conceptual item modules (0-9), whereas the second part includes a choice experiment (modules 10-11).



Figure 8: Survey design (modules).

In the first part of the survey (see Figure 8, module 1-9), multiple concepts have been implemented such as:

- how people are attached to landscapes of living/recreation (Lewicka 2011; Bonaiuto et al. 2003; Bonaiuto et al. 1999; Ströbele und Hunziker 2015; Kienast et al. 2013),
- how people process landscapes (information processing theory by Kaplan und Kaplan 1989),
- what meanings people assign to landscapes (Rodewald 2001; Meier und Bucher 2010; Stremlow und Sidler 2002),
- environmental attitudes of people (Dunlap und Van Liere 2008; Hawcroft und Milfont 2010; Díaz et al. 2017),
- attitudes and meanings people assign to energy and renewable energy attitudes (Ntanos et al. 2018; Devine-Wright und Batel 2017; Devine-Wright und Batel 2013; Heras-Saizarbitoria et al. 2011; Wolsink 2000),
- personal affectedness of the development of renewable energy systems (Hunziker et al. 2001; Bontadina et al. 2001), and
- socio-demographics.

In addition to the mentioned literature references, a significant contribution to these concepts was also made during project workshops and during internal development processes. The survey was set up with Sawtooth software (Sawtooth 2017).



In the second part of the survey, a choice experiment (CE) was applied. The original CE is based on a multi-nominal logit model (MNL). A MNL model is a regression model which is used to predict the probabilities of discrete outcomes based on a set of independent variables (Olschewski 2013). These independent variables are called attributes, which include "Landscape" (LS), "Wind" (W), "Photovoltaics" (PV) and "Overhead Powerlines" (PL). The attributes "Wind" and "Photovoltaics" have four numerical levels (absence, minimum, medium, maximum number of infrastructures), whereas the attribute "Overhead powerlines" consists of two numerical levels (absence, presence) (see Figure 9). The attribute "Landscape" consists of the seven Vistas of the Swiss character landscapes (see Section 3.1.2). To take into account that the landscapes were defined earlier in the project, the attribute has been developed as a nominal variable using dummy variables.



Figure 9: Structural development of choice alternatives from attribute levels.

All four attributes and their respective levels have been combined to unlabelled alternatives (choice card) where two alternatives are shown per choice decision (choice set). The way the attribute levels are arranged is determined by the "design" of the CE. Huber and Zwerina (1996) show four principle ways to achieve an efficient CE: orthogonality, level balance, minimal overlap and utility balance. Given the situation that it is not possible to satisfy all principles, the short-cut method has been chosen which ensures minimal overlap (Sawtooth 2017, p.16). This means that each option is built by choosing attribute levels least frequently applied in previous options to keep the alternatives in any task as different from each other as possible (Olschewski et al. 2012).

For this study in total 224 theoretical alternatives were available. The model design was calculated with NGENE (v.1.2.0) a leading software regarding the experimental design of stated choice experiments. This led to a design where each respondent had to select one out of two options from 15 successive choice sets (Figure 10). The underlying question each subject had to answer was "If these were your only options, which one would you prefer to choose?" To add realism in choice situation, Louviere et al. (2000, pp.13–36) suggest to include a "no choice" option, to which in the following study is referred to as "None: I cannot choose."

The survey was implemented as a national representative online panel survey, operated by panel provider BILENDI GmbH. A pre-test with 116 respondents was conducted in October/November 2018 and was mainly used to estimate and verify the priors used in the design development. The main survey was online from late November 2018 until March 2019. A total of n = 1065 surveys were fully completed. 221 (20.75%) respondents failed quality criteria due to a minimum of total time, time spent in choice model per choice task and in total, percentage certainty and continuity in answers per module, which led to a total number of qualified respondents of n = 844. The median time for the completion of the survey was about 49 minutes.

The data was processed and evaluated in with IBM SPSS Statistics (V 25), R (https://www.r-project.org) and Lighthouse Studio (v.9.5.3, Sawtooth Software).



Figure 10: Exemplary choice situation for each subject (choice task).

3.2 Development of Recommendations

The recommendations were developed in strong collaboration with the group of experts collaborating from the outset on with the project team. In addition to the workshop for selecting vistas (first Expert Group Workshop, see Section 3.1.2) and the workshop for identifying further influencing aspects (second Expert Group Workshop, see Section 3.1.4) two further workshops were organized. In the third Expert Group Workshop (January 16, 2019) initial results of the preference survey were presented and first conclusions drawn from these results were discussed. It was defined that the recommendations shall be drawn from the conclusions, which should stay close to the results. Further, the expert group called for the possibility to collaboratively reviewing and revising the draft recommendations. Therefore, a fourth Expert Group Workshop was organized (September 18, 2019).

4 Results

In this section, the most important results of the preference study are summarized. First, the physiological responses on the low and the high scenario with a mix of wind energy and photovoltaic systems are provided, which were measured in the laboratory experiment. Second, the results from the laboratory experiment and the online panel survey are given regarding the participants' stated preferences, which scenarios they preferred compared to the other ones. Third, the stated preferences (laboratory experiment and online panel survey) are compared with the physiological response and correlations between both patterns are discovered. Finally, the results are presented of how the study participants perceived the landscape structure in order to get a deeper understanding of the perception and evaluation of the landscape scenarios.

4.1 Physiological Responses to the LOW and the HIGH Scenarios

An important finding is that the amount of infrastructures elicits physiological responses. Landscape scenarios with high amounts of renewable energy infrastructures evoke higher attention than scenarios with only few do. This effect is strongly significant in the landscapes "Further Alpine Areas" and "Jura". In the landscape "Urbanized Plateau" we cannot see any differences in the number of skin conductance responses (nSCR) between LOW and HIGH scenarios. This result indicates that skin conductance re-sponse is more sensitive to the visual impact of higher amounts of renewable energy systems in near natural landscapes compared to urban scenes.

4.2 Preferences for the Landscape Scenarios with Renewable Energy Systems (RES)

The preferences for the landscape scenarios were determined in two ways:

1) Stated preference in the online panel survey (choice experiment, "What picture do you opt for?")

2) Stated preference in the laboratory experiment (choice, "What picture do you like better?")

The results show that the preferences for infrastructures for a renewable energy supply strongly depends on the type of landscape, the combination of energy production facilities and the already existing use of a landscape: The more natural a landscape looks, the greater the rejection of energy infrastructures. Nevertheless, the results of the online panel survey show that a small number of solar and wind energy infrastructures are clearly preferred in the Plateau shaped by settlements and infrastructures as well as in Alpine landscapes, where facilities for touristic use such as ski lifts characterise the landscape. In contrast, the people do last prefer the renewable energy infrastructures in the "Further Alpine Areas". Also in the landscapes "Jura" and "Pre-Alps" these developments are rather little preferred. The "Agricultural Plateau" as well as the "Urbanized Alpine Areas" range on the medium ranks.

In the laboratory experiment, compared with the other landscapes, the landscape "Further Alpine Areas" with the LOW scenario was liked best. This means, that participants rated the "Further Alpine Areas" with just a small amount of renewable energy systems as the most beautiful, whereas participants did not like the landscape "Urbanized Plateau". This coincides with the findings of the landscape observation programme (LABES; Kienast et al. 2013: 54), where the visual landscape of the central alpine regions was rated by the people living there as most beautiful, whereas the urbanized regions of the Plateau (and Ticino) were rated least positively. Generally, people rate landscapes with a LOW amount of renewable energy systems as more beautiful compared to the landscapes with a HIGH amount of these infrastructures. In near natural landscapes this difference is much bigger compared to urbanized areas.



Concerning the energy production facilities, the pure use of solar energy on roofs and facades is more preferred than the scenarios with wind energy systems or combinations of wind and PV systems. However, in all landscapes, a combination with few wind turbines and PV panels is preferred to a scenario with a high number of these infrastructures. A scenario with a minimum amount of wind turbines and a minimum amount of PV infrastructures is better preferred than this wind energy scenario without PV. Scenarios with wind turbines are preferred less the more wind turbines are visible.

Power lines are least preferred in comparison to PV (best preferred) and wind energy infrastructures. Looking only at scenarios with power lines, in all landscapes the power lines are more preferred in combination with a minimum or medium amount of PV than power lines only. In the landscapes "Urbanized Plateau", "Agricultural Plateau", "Jura", and "Touristic Alpine Areas", a scenario with power lines combined with a minimum amount of both PV and wind turbines is still equally or even slightly better preferred than the scenarios with power lines only.

4.3 Comparison of the Arousal Response with the Stated Preferences for the LOW and the HIGH Scenarios

We compared the arousal response with the stated preference of the participants of the laboratory experiment, and the stated preferences of the online panel survey for the LOW and HIGH scenarios. Concerning near-natural landscapes, particularly the "Further Alpine Areas", and concerning "pre-stressed" areas such as the "Urbanized Plateau" the patterns of the stated preferences (laboratory experiment) are similar to the ones identified for the arousal responses. For the landscape "Further Alpine Areas", all three measures provide significant results. The stated preferences (online panel survey and laboratory experiment) are here higher for the LOW scenario than for the HIGH scenario. Additionally, this landscape seems to be more sensitive to the visual impact of renewable energy systems than the other landscapes regarding the arousal, which is increasing with the amount of renewable energy infrastructure. A higher amount of renewable energy systems clearly attracts more attention and, therefore, leads to an effect not only cognitively, but also affectively.

4.4 Impact of the Scenarios on the View of the Landscape

The results of the participants' landscape perception measured with the indicators for the quality of the landscape structure reveal specific visual aesthetic aspects as factors influencing people's preference decisions. In particular, the perceived coherence has a major effect on the preferences in several landscapes, especially the near-natural ones.

The rated landscape coherence differs strongly dependent on the amount of renewable energy infrastructure (LOW / HIGH) in the landscapes. Perceived coherence *increases* in almost every landscape, with just a small amount of renewable energy infrastructure (LOW scenario). With a high amount of renewables (HIGH scenario), coherence *decreases* drastically. This holds for all character landscapes except the following two: In the "Urbanized Plateau", where the perceived coherence changes just marginally with both scenarios. Further, in the "Further Alpine Areas" coherence is perceived lower with both scenarios compared to this landscape without renewable energy systems.

The results show that the landscape changes can be measured with these landscape structure indicators. Thereby, the participants of the laboratory experiment rated the whole landscape including the mix of renewable energy systems.

5 Discussion of results

5.1 Answers on the Research Questions

In this section, the results of the preference study are briefly discussed with regard to the five research questions (see Section 2.3). Based on the results, the people's stated preferences for renewable energy infrastructures in the seven character landscapes is explained regarding the physiological responses to the landscapes, the landscape structural measures, as well as the connotations to the landscape. Hence, the preferences for the scenarios are treated as an indicator for acceptance solely from a landscape perspective.

1. Do the physiological responses to landscape changes with a mix of renewable energy systems correlate with public preferences for the respective scenarios?

Overall, the arousal response on a scenario with a combination of many wind turbines and photovoltaic systems (scenario HIGH) is higher than on a scenario with only few of these infrastructures (scenario LOW). Furthermore, in the landscape "Urbanized Plateau", which is already "pre-stressed" with other infrastructures, adding a large amount of renewable energy systems seems not to affect the arousal response on these landscapes in the same way as it does in near-natural landscapes such as "Jura" and "Further Alpine Areas".

There is no direct link between the arousal response and a positive or negative perception (Critchley 2002). However, the combined analysis of arousal responses and stated preferences helps to better understand landscape perception processes. The comparison of the arousal response with the stated preferences of the online panel survey showed that in the near-natural landscape "Further Alpine Areas" the preferences for the LOW and the HIGH scenario differ significantly and so does also the arousal response. People do not regard infrastructures of renewable energy systems as fitting into this landscape and the more of them are visible, the more aroused they are. Moreover, regarding all seven character landscapes, the landscape "Further Alpine Areas" was liked best and was least preferred for developments with renewable energy scenarios compared to the other landscapes. This means, we did find meaningful correlations between the physiological responses and the public preferences.

2. In how far are judgments of the renewable energy systems dependent on the landscape context?

The results demonstrate clearly that the participants' preference judgments of the renewable energy systems are depending on the respective landscape context because the gradients between the LOW and the HIGH scenarios differ between the landscapes. Moreover, the judgments reveal a ranking of the landscapes with respect to such developments, suggesting that people weigh their choices according to the landscape context (see Section 4.2). The people seem to want to protect the near-natural landscapes ("Further Alpine Areas") and therefore show higher preferences for landscape developments with renewable energy systems in "pre-stressed areas" ("Urbanized Plateau").

In addition, the amount of renewable energy infrastructures affects the perceived landscape structure, notably the perceived coherence (see Section 4.4), which in turn effects the visual landscape preference. From a landscape aesthetics point of view, the integration of a combination of renewable energy infrastructures can have positive effects on the perceived coherence. However, this effect may become negative in case of too many renewable energy infrastructures.

3. How are different infrastructures for producing renewable energy systems and their respective landscape changes judged by the Swiss public?

The people prefer developments with renewable energy systems in the "Urbanized Plateau" best, followed by the "Touristic Alpine Area". These landscapes contain already other infrastructures and it seems that this is fostering the acceptance of adding further infrastructure to the landscape view (see also Lienert et al 2017 and Batel et al. 2015).

Developments with renewable energy systems in the landscapes "Agricultural Plateau", "Jura" and "Pre-Alps" are not as much preferred as such developments in the "Urbanized Plateau" or the "Touristic Alpine Areas" are. Apparently, the people want to protect these agriculturally shaped landscapes. The alpine areas seem to trigger this protection effect, too, so that developments with renewable energy systems in these areas are less preferred than in the "Urbanized Plateau". As the "Further Alpine Areas" are least preferred for such developments, it may be the Alps that further the refusal.

4. What further variables have an influence on the preferences for landscape developments with renewable energy systems?

This question will be answered with further results of the online panel survey. However, the data analysis requires a new model, which still needs to be further developed.

5. What is the judgment of the public regarding specific (single) installations and infrastructure types compared with the comprehensive judgment of the whole mix of energy infrastructures (including transmission lines) within a certain landscape?

Overall, the public prefers a landscape development scenario with renewable energy infrastructures more than a scenario without any of these. However, the public has also clear preferences for the different infrastructure types and their preferred amount. Landscape developments with PV on roofs and facades are clearly preferred over developments with wind turbines and developments with power lines are least preferred. Lienert et al. (2017) explain the people's low acceptance of power lines with deeply rooted negative affective connotations.

But also the combination of the infrastructure types matters. A combination of high amounts of all infrastructures is clearly less preferred than the scenarios with combinations of low amounts. The public seems to generally agree with moderate landscape developments with renewable energy systems. Thereby, the preferences for such developments differ between the landscapes as discussed for research question 3.

5.2 Recommendations

Due to further time required for the analysis of the preference study's results and the demand of the expert group to take part actively in the formulation (see Section 3.2), the recommendations could not be integrated into this report. The final recommendations will be made available in the project report for the NRP 70 in form of a web page. This format is thought to communicate the results to a broad target group, so that politicians and the general public are also addressed. Furthermore, there will be a brochure (PDF) addressed particularly to practitioners, i.e., the spatial, landscape and renewable energy infrastructure planners at all three planning levels, companies and consultants of the renewable energy industry, as well as of the landscape protection and development area. This product, funded as a follow-up project also by the BFE, will be made available in the end of 2019 on the NRP 70 web page of the ENERGYSCAPE project and the BFE web page.

6 Conclusions

The goal of the project ENERGYSCAPE was to better understand landscape-related social preferences, and hence, the public acceptability of renewable energy developments in Swiss landscapes. Therefore, a preference study consisting of a laboratory experiment and an online panel survey was conducted. The landscapes considered comprise the "Urbanized" and the "Agricultural Plateau", the "Jura", the "Pre-Alps", the "Urbanized Alpine Areas", the "Touristic Alpine Areas", and the "Further Alpine Areas". Altogether, these seven landscapes represent major character landscapes.

A combined analysis of the results of the online panel survey and the laboratory experiment gives, from a landscape perspective, concrete insights into preferences for landscape developments in Switzerland with different combinations and amounts of infrastructures of wind energy and photovoltaic systems as well as power lines. In this context, the Swiss people prefer placing infrastructures of renewable energies into "pre-stressed" landscapes over placing them into more natural looking landscapes. Moreover, over-all they prefer developments with a rather moderate amount of renewable energy infrastructures with a clear preference for PV on roofs and facades. But also combinations of low amounts of both PV and wind turbines are preferred scenarios.

Further, the arousal response to landscape scenarios with renewable energy systems is related to the amount of renewable energy systems and the scenic quality. Therefore, this aspect should be further investigated to get a deeper understanding of the relationships between the visual characteristics and physiological responses. Also the perceived coherence is strongly related to the amount of renewable energy infrastructures in a landscape scene, and hence, possible effects on this aspect need to be taken into account seriously. Thereby it has to be noted that adding a low amount of renewable energy infrastructures can also increase the perceived coherence of a landscape. Except the rather natural, remote alpine areas, which are more sensitive to changes with renewable energy systems concerning the perceived coherence.

For developing a landscape strategy with renewable energies, taking into account both, landscape and non-landscape-related influencing factors is necessary. The results of the project predominantly make landscape related aspects explicit. Furthermore, the analysis of the connotations to landscape and (renewable) energy will provide further insights into the people's attitudes regarding the fit of the renewable energy infrastructures into specific places. Together, these results provide a valuable basis for practical suggestions to steer the landscape development with renewable energy systems towards socially accepted directions.

7 Publications [within the project]

- Egli, T.; Bolliger, J.; Kienast, F., (2017). Evaluating ecosystem service trade-offs with wind electricity production in Switzerland. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 67, 863-875. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2016.09.074
- Glanzmann, C. (2018). Wahrnehmung und Bewertung von virtuellen Landschaften in Abhängigkeit vom Präsentationsmedium - Panoramaprojektion versus Head–Mounted Display. BSc-Arbeit, Planung von Landschaft und Urbanen Systemen, ETH Zürich, 38 S.
- Huber, N.; Hergert, R.; Price, B.; Zäch, C.; Hersperger, A.M.; Pütz, M.; Kienast, F.; Bolliger, J., (2017).
 Renewable energy sources: conflicts and opportunities in a changing landscape.
 Regional Environmental Change, 17 (4), 1241-1255. doi: 10.1007/s10113-016-1098-9
- Kessler, L. (2018). Mix erneuerbarer Energiesysteme in Landschaftstypen planen und mit Pointclouds visualisieren. Bachelor Thesis, Supervisor: Grêt-Regamey, A., Advisors: Spielhofer, R., Wissen Hayek, U.
- Kienast, F., Huber, N., Hergert, R., Bolliger, J., Segura Moran, L., Hersperger, A.M., (2017). Conflicts between decentralized renewable energies and ecosystem services - a spatially-explicit quantitative assessment for Switzerland. Submitted Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews. 67: 397-407. Journal's 5-yr Impact Factor: 7.4
- Müller, K. (2018). Wahrnehmung von Hochspannungsleitungen in Kombination mit anderen Energieinfrastrukturen in unterschiedlichen Landschaftstypen. MSc in Spatial Development and Infrastructure Systems ETH Zürich.
- Salak, B. (2019a): "Hands off the alps? Choice Experiment on Peoples preferences on Landscape developments through New Renewable Energy Infrastructures in Swiss Alpine Landscapes." Online verfügbar unter: https://www.uibk.ac.at/congress/imc2019/.
- Salak, B. (2019b): "Landscape preferences as predictor for social acceptance of the energy turnaround. How the perceived change of landscape quality contributes to the development of sustainable energy policies." Online verfügbar unter: http://www.iale2019.unimib.it.
- Salak, B., Kienast, F., Hunziker, M., Spielhofer, R., Wissen Hayek, U., Grêt-Regamey, A., Steiger, U. (2018). Energiewende Schweiz Wichtige Aspekte zur Beurteilung der wahrgenommenen Veränderungen der Landschaft durch erneuerbare Energieinfrastrukturen. Posterpräsentation am 1. Schweizer Landschaftskongress, 23. 24. August 2018, Luzern.
- Salak, B., Zwieauer, L. (2019): "steuerBAR: Wo wollen wir "Energielandschaften" und wo nicht? Erkenntnisse einer schweizweiten Befragung über eine mögliche räumliche Entwicklung von Erneuerbaren Energieinfrastrukturen im Rahmen der Energiestrategie 2050." Online verfügbar unter: https://www.wsl.ch/de/ueber-die-wsl/veranstaltungen/details/forum-fuer-wissen-2019-energy-change-impact.html?no_cache=1&cHash=2a8cb9e181f2ec64eb76b6f526f236fb.
- Schweri, C. (2018). Emotionale Reaktionen auf verschiedene Präsentationsformen von 3D-Landschaftsvisualisierungen: Statisch vs. Animiert und Sequentiell vs. Simultan. Master Thesis, Supervisor: Fabrikant, S.I., Advisors: Wissen Hayek, U., Spielhofer, R., Thrash, T., Schinazi, V.



- Wissen Hayek, U., Müller, K., Göbel, F., Kiefer, P., Spielhofer, R., Grêt-Regamey, A. (2019). 3D Point Clouds and Eye Tracking for Investigating the Perception and Acceptance of Power Lines in Different Landscapes. Multimodal Technologies and Interaction 3(2), 40; <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/mti3020040</u>
- Wissen Hayek, U., Spielhofer, R., Grêt-Regamey, A. (2019). Preparing 3D Point Clouds as Stimuli for Landscape Preference Studies: Lessons Learned. Journal of Digital Landscape Architecture, 4-2019. Herbert Wichmann Verlag, VDE VERLAG GMBH Berlin, Offenbach, 250 - 257, <u>https://doi.org/10.14627/537663027</u>
- Wissen Hayek, U., Endres, L, Spielhofer, R., Grêt-Regamey, A. (2018). Sound ambiences consistent with visualizations of landscape types – An evaluation. Journal of Digital Landscape Architecture 3, 172-180. https://doi.org/10.14627/537642018
- Wissen Hayek, U., Sonderegger, R., Spielhofer, R., Grêt-Regamey, A. (2018). Fünf Rollup Displays (Poster, 2m x 0.85m) zur Präsentation des Projekts "ENERGYSCAPE".
- Wissen Hayek, U., Spielhofer, R., Grêt-Regamey, A. (2019). Preparing 3D Point Clouds as Stimuli for Landscape Preference Studies: Lessons Learned. Journal of Digital Landscape Architecture, 4-2019. © Herbert Wichmann Verlag, VDE VERLAG GMBH Berlin, Offenbach. ISBN, ISSN, doi: (in print).
- Wissen Hayek, U., Spielhofer, R., Kienast, F., Hunziker, M., Grêt-Regamey, A. (2017). Auswahl der Vistas. NFP 70 Projekt ENERGYSCAPE, Internal Report.
- Wüst, A. (2018). Präferenzen für Windenergieanlagen in alpinen Tourismusinfrastruktur-landschaften im Sommer und im Winter. MSc-Arbeit, Planung von Landschaft und Urbanen Systemen, ETH Zürich, 92 S.

8 References

- Apostol, D., Palmer, J., Pasqualetti, M., Smardon, R., Sullivan, R., 2017. The Renewable Energy Landscape. Routledge.
- ARE (2019). Sachpläne des Bundes. Available online at: <u>https://www.are.admin.ch/are/de/home/rau-</u> <u>mentwicklung-und-raumplanung/strategie-und-planung/konzepte-und-</u> <u>sachplaene/sachplaene-des-bundes.html</u>, accessed 14.06.2019.
- Batel, S. and Devine-Wright, P. (2015) Towards a better understanding of people's responses to renewable energy technologies: Insights from Social Representations Theory. Public Understanding of Science 24: 311-325.
- BFE (2018a). Energiestrategie 2050 nach dem Inkrafttreten des neuen Energiegesetzes. Available online at: <u>https://www.bfe.admin.ch/bfe/de/home/politik/energiestrategie-2050.html</u>, accessed 14.06.2019.
- BFE (2018b). Windatlas Schweiz, Version 1.0 (04.04.2016). https://www.uvek-gis.admin.ch/BFE/storymaps/EE_Windatlas/?lang=de# (besucht am 30.10.2018).
- Bishop, I. D. (2011). What do we really know? A meta-analysis of studies into public responses to wind energy. Paper presented at the World Renewable Energy Congress, Linköping University Electronic Press, Linköping, Sweden.
- Bonaiuto, M., Aiello, A., Perugini, M., Bonnes, M., Ercolani, A.P. (1999). Multidimensional perception of residential environment quality and neighbourhood attachment in the urban environment. Journal of Environmental Psychology 19(4):331–352.
- Bonaiuto, M., Fornara, F., Bonnes, M. (2003). Indexes of perceived residential environment quality and neighbourhood attachment in urban environments: a confirmation study on the city of Rome. Landscape and Urban Planning 65(1–2):41–52.
- Bontadina, F., Contesse, P., Gloor, S. (2001): "Wie beeinflusst die persönliche Betroffenheit die Einstellung gegenüber Füchsen in der Stadt?" Forest Snow and Landscape Research 76(1–2):255–266.
- Bourassa, S.C. (1991). The aesthetics of landscape. Belhaven: London/New York.
- Bradley, M. M., Lang, P. J. (2007). The International Affective Picture System (IAPS) in the study of emotion and attention. In J. A. Coan, Allen, J. J. B., Eds., Handbook of Emotion Elicitation and Assessment. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK, 29-46.
- Brahms, E., Peters, J. (2012). Landschaftsbild, Erholungsnutzung und Windenergieanlagen in der Planungsregion Magdeburg. Abschlussbericht, entera/HNEE, Hannover und Eberswalde. https://www.regionmagdeburg.de/media/custom/493_722_1.PDF?1379420887 (besucht am 14.06.2019).
- Bronfman, N. Jimenez, R., Arevalo, P., Cifuentes, L. (2012). Understanding social acceptance of electricity generation sources. Energy Policy 46, 246-252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.03.057
- Clayton, S., Devine-Wright, P., Stern, P.C., Withmarsh, L., Carrico, A., Steg, L., Swim, J., Bonnes, M. (2015). Psychological research and global climate change. Nature Climate Change 5: 640-646. DOI: 10.1038/NCLIMATE2622



- Cohen, J.J., Reichl, J., Schmidthaler, M. (2014). Re-focussing research efforts on the public acceptance of energy infrastructure: A critical review. Energy 76: 4-9.
- Critchley, H.D. (2002). Electrodermal Responses: What Happens in the Brain. The Neuroscientist 8(2). 132-142. https://doi.org/10.1177/107385840200800209
- Daniel, T. C. (2001). Whither scenic beauty? Visual landscape quality assessment in the 21st century. Landscape and Urban Planning, 54(1–4), 267-281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2046(01)00141-4</u>.
- Devine-Wright, P. (2005). Beyond NIMBYism: towards an Integrated Framework for Understanding Public Perceptions of Wind Energy. Wind Energy, 8(2), 125-139. https://doi.org/10.1002/we.124.
- Devine-Wright, P. (2007), Reconsidering public attitudes and public acceptance of renewable energy technologies: a critical review. Manchester: School of Environment and Development, University of Manchester. Available at: <u>https://geography.exeter.ac.uk/be-yond_nimbyism/deliverables/bn_wp1_4.pdf</u>, accessed 14.06.2019.
- Devine-Wright, P. (2011). Enhancing local distinctiveness fosters public acceptance of tidal energy: A UK case study. Energy Policy 39: 83-93.
- Devine-Wright, P., Batel, S. (2013). Explaining public preferences for high voltage pylon designs: An empirical study of perceived fit in a rural landscape. Land Use Policy 31:640–649.
- Devine-Wright, P., Batel, S. (2017). My neighbourhood, my country or my planet? The influence of multiple place attachments and climate change concern on social acceptance of energy infrastructure. Global Environmental Change 47:110–120.
- Devine-Wright, P., Howes, Y. (2010). Disruption to place attachment and the protection of restorative environments: A wind energy case study. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 30/3, 271-280.
- Díaz, P., Adler, C., Patt, A. (2017). Do stakeholders' perspectives on renewable energy infrastructure pose a risk to energy policy implementation? A case of a hydropower plant in Switzerland. Energy Policy 108:21–28.
- Dunlap, R.E., Van Liere, K.D. (2008). The ,New Environmental Paradigm^(*). The Journal of Environmental Education 40(1):19–28.
- Eisenhauer, B.W., R.S. Krannich, Blahna, D.J. (2000). Attachments to special places on public lands: An analysis of activities, reason for attachments, and community connections. Society & Natural Resources, 13(5): p. 421-441.
- Ek K. and Persson L. (2014) Wind farms Where and how to place them? A choice experiment approach to measure consumer preferences for characteristics of wind farm establishments in Sweden. Ecological Economics 105: 193-203.
- EU, 2011: EU Guidance on wind energy development in accordance with the EU nature legislation. Available online at: http://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/natura2000/management/docs/Wind_farms.pdf, accessed 14.06.2019.
- EU. (2012). Richtlinie 2011/92/EU des Europäischen Parlaments und des Rates vom 13. Dezember 2011 über die Umweltverträglichkeitsprüfung bei bestimmten öffentlichen und privaten Projekten.



- European Commission (2008). Communication from the Commission. Roadmap for Maritime Spatial Planning: Achieving Common Principles in the EU (COM(2008) 791 final). Available at: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriS-</u> erv.do?uri=COM:2008:0791:FIN:EN:PDF, accessed 14.06.2019.
- Graham, J. B., Stephenson, J. R., Smith, I. J. (2009). Public perceptions of wind energy developments: Case studies from New Zealand.
- Haines-Young, R., Potschin. M. (2010). The links between biodiversity, ecosystem services and human well-being. Pages 110–139 in D. Raffaelli and C. Frid, editors. Ecosystem ecology: a new synthesis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511750458.007
- Hastik, R., Basso, S., Geitner, C., Haida, C., Poljanec, A., Portaccio, A., Vrščaj, B., Walzer, C. (2015). Renewable energies and ecosystem service impacts. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 48, 608-623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.04.004
- Hawcroft, L.J., Milfont, T.L. (2010). The use (and abuse) of the new environmental paradigm scale over the last 30 years: A meta-analysis. Journal of Environmental Psychology 30(2):143– 158.
- Heras-Saizarbitoria, I., Cilleruelo, E., Zamanillo, I. (2011). Public acceptance of renewables and the media: an analysis of the Spanish PV solar experience. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 15(9):4685–4696.
- Huber, J., Zwerina, K. (1996). The Importance of Utility Balance in Efficient Choice Designs. Journal of Marketing Research 33(3):307–317.
- Hübner, G., Elisabeth, L., Hampl, N., Wüstenhagen, R. (2013). Wirkungen von Windkraftanlagen auf Anwohner in der Schweiz: Einflussfaktoren und Empfehlungen. Abschlussbericht, Institut für Wirtschaft und Ökologie der Universität St. Gallen und Institut für Psychologie der Martin-Luther-Universität Halle-Wittenberg, Halle.
- Huijts, N.M.A., Molin, E.J.E., Steg, L. (2012). Psychological factors influencing sustainable energy technology acceptance: A review-based comprehensive framework. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 16: 525-531.
- Hunziker, M., Hoffmann, C., Wild-Eck, S. (2001). Die Akzeptanz von Wolf, Luchs und 'Stadtfuchs' -Ergebnisse einer gesamtschweizerisch-repräsentativen Umfrage. Forest Snow and Landscape Research 76(1–2):301–326.
- Ibarra, F.F., Kardan, O., Hunter, M.R., Kotabe, H.P. Meyer, F.A.C., Berman, M.G. (2017). Image Feature Types and Their Predictions of Aesthetic Preference and Naturalness. Frontiers in Psychology 8: 632. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00632
- Jones, C. R., Eiser, J. R. (2010). Understanding 'local'opposition to wind development in the UK: How big is a backyard? Energy Policy, 38(6), 3106-3117. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2010.01.051
- Kang, J. (2007). Urban Sound Environment. Taylor & Francis, London and New York, 278 pp.
- Kanton Bern, Amt für Gemeinden und Raumordnung (2018). Anlagen zur Nutzung der Windener-gie. Bewilligungsverfahren und Beurteilungskriterien. Wegleitung 2018, Bern. https://www.bve.be.ch/bve/de/index/energie/energie/windkraft.asse-



tref/dam/documents/JGK/AGR/de/Raumplanung/Arbeitshilfen/agr_raumplanung_arbeitshilfen_wegleitung_anlagen_zur_nutzung_der_windenergie_de.pdf, accessed 14.06.2019.

- Kaplan, R., Kaplan, S. (1989). The experience of nature. A psychological perspective. University Press, Cambridge.
- Kienast, F., Frick, J., Steiger, U. (2013). Neue Ansätze zur Erfassung der Landschaftsqualität. Zwischenbericht Landschaftsbeobachtung Schweiz (LABES), Umwelt-Wissen Nr. 1325, Bundes-amt für Umwelt, Bern und Eidgenössische Forschungsanstalt für Wald, Schnee und Landschaft, Birmensdorf: 75 S. <u>https://www.bafu.admin.ch/bafu/de/home/themen/landschaft/publikationen-studien/publikationen/neueansaetze-zur-erfassung-der-landschaftsqualitaet.html, accessed 14.06.2019.</u>
- Kienast, F., Frick, J., van Strien, M.J., Hunziker, M., (2015). The Swiss landscape monitoring program a comprehensive indicator set to measure landscape change. Ecological Modelling 295: 136-150.
- Kienast, F., Huber, N., Hergert, R., Bolliger, J., Segura Moran, L., Hersperger, A.M. (2017). Conflicts between decentralized renewable electricity production and landscape services – A spatially-explicit quantitative assessment for Switzerland. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 67, 397-407. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.09.045
- Lennon, M., Scott, M. (2015). Opportunity or Threat: Dissecting Tensions in a Post-Carbon Rural Transition. Sociologia Ruralis: n/a-n/a.
- Lewicka, M. (2011) On the Varieties of People's Relationships With Places: Hummon's Typology Revisited. Environment and Behavior 43(5):676–709.
- Lienert, P., Sutterlin, B., & Siegrist, M. (2017). The influence of high-voltage power lines on the feelings evoked by different Swiss surroundings. Energy Research & Social Science, 23, 46-59. doi:10.1016/j.erss.2016.11.010
- Lindquist, M., Lange, E., Kang, J. (2016). From 3D landscape visualization to environmental simulation: The contribution of sound to the perception of virtual environments. Landscape and Urban Planning 148, 216-231. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.12.017
- Louviere, J.J., Hensher, D.A., Swait, J.D. (2000). Stated choice methods: analysis and applications. Cambridge; New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press; Online verfügbar unter: http://public.eblib.com/choice/publicfullrecord.aspx?p=144724 [accessed Juni 16, 2019].
- Maehr, A. M., Watts, G. R., Hanratty, J., & Talmi, D. (2015). Emotional response to images of wind turbines: A psychophysiological study of their visual impact on the landscape. Landscape and Urban Planning, 142, 71-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.05.011.
- Manyoky, M., Ribe, R., Grêt-Regamey, A., Wissen Hayek, U. (2015). Visual-Acoustic Simulations for Integrating Cultural Landscape Values into Wind Park Assessments. In: Buhmann, E., Ervin, S., Pietsch, M. (Eds.). Peer Reviewed Proceedings of Digital Landscape Architecture 2015. Herbert Wichmann Verlag, VDE Verlag GmbH, Berlin/Offenbach, 135-140.
- Manyoky, M., Wissen Hayek, U., Heutschi, K., Pieren, R., Grêt-Regamey, A. (2016). Evaluating a visualacoustic simulation for wind park assessment. Landscape and Urban Planning, in press, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.03.013



- McLachlan, C. (2010). Symbolic interpretations of wave energy in the UK: surfers' perspectives. In: Devine-Wright P (ed): Renewable Energy and the Public: From NIMBY to Participation. London: Earthscan, 275-288.
- Meier, C., Bucher, A. (2010). Die zukünftige Landschaft erinnern: eine Fallstudie zu Landschaft, Landschaftsbewusstsein und landschaftlicher Identität in Glarus Süd. Bern: Haupt.
- Michel, A.H., Buchecker, M. and Backhaus, N. (2015) Renewable Energy, Authenticity, and Tourism: Social Acceptance of Photovoltaic Installations in a Swiss Alpine Region. Mountain Research and Development 35: 161-170.
- Molina-Ruiz, J., Martínez-Sánchez, M.J., Pérez-Sirvent, C., Tudela-Serrano, M.L., Garzía Lorenzo, M.L. (2011). Developing and applying a GIS-assisted approach to evaluate visual impact in wind farms. Renewable Energy 36: 1125-1132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2010.08.041</u>
- Molnarova, K., Sklenicka, P., Stiborek, J., Svobodova, K., Salek, M., Brabec, E. (2012). Visual preferences for wind turbines: Location, numbers and respondent characteristics. Applied Energy 92: 269-278. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2011.11.001
- Ntanos, S., Kyriakopoulos, G., Chalikias, M., Arabatzis, G., Skordoulis, M. (2018) Public Perceptions and Willingness to Pay for Renewable Energy: A Case Study from Greece. Sustainability 10(3):687.
- Olschewski, R. (2013). How to value protection from natural hazards a step-by-step discrete choice approach. Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences 13(4):913–922.
- Olschewski, R., Bebi, P., Teich, M., Wissen Hayek, U., und Grêt-Regamey, A. (2012). Avalanche protection by forests — A choice experiment in the Swiss Alps. Forest Policy and Economics 15:108–113.
- Rodewald, R. (2001). Sehnsucht Landschaft: Landschaftsgestaltung unter ästhetischem Gesichtspunkt 2. Aufl. Zürich: Chronos.
- Rosenholtz, R., Li, Y., Nakano, L. (2007). Measuring Visual Clutter. Journal of Vision, 7(2): 1-22, https://doi.org/10.1167/7.2.17
- Salak, B. (2019a). Hands off the alps? Choice Experiment on Peoples preferences on Landscape developments through New Renewable Energy Infrastructures in Swiss Alpine Landscapes." Online verfügbar unter: https://www.uibk.ac.at/congress/imc2019/.
- Salak, B. (2019b). Landscape preferences as predictor for social acceptance of the energy turnaround. How the perceived change of landscape quality contributes to the development of sustainable energy policies. Online verfügbar unter: http://www.iale2019.unimib.it.
- Salak, B., Zwieauer, L. (2019). steuerBAR: Wo wollen wir "Energielandschaften" und wo nicht? Erkenntnisse einer schweizweiten Befragung über eine mögliche räumliche Entwicklung von Erneuerbaren Energieinfrastrukturen im Rahmen der Energiestrategie 2050. Online verfügbar unter: https://www.wsl.ch/de/ueber-die-wsl/veranstaltungen/details/forumfuer-wissen-2019-energy-change-impact.html?no_cache=1&cHash=2a8cb9e181f2ec64eb76b6f526f236fb.
- Sawtooth (2017). Technical Paper Series: The CBC System for Choice-Based Conjoint Analysis (Version 9, Technical paper) Sawtooth Software, Hrsg. :28.



- Scognamiglio A. (2016) 'Photovoltaic landscapes': Design and assessment. A critical review for a new transdisciplinary design vision. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 55: 629-661.
- Segura Morán, L., Kienast, F., Hersperger, A.M. (2014). Conflicts between the production of renewable energy and other landscape services in Switzerland. Final Report, WSL.
- Singh, S.N., Donovan, D.T., Mishra, S., Little, T.D. (2008). The latent structure of landscape perception: A mean and covariance structure modeling approach. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 28(4), 339-352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvp.2008.03.004.
- Spiess, H., Lobsiger-Kägi, E., Carabias-Hütter, V., Marcolla, A. (2015). Future acceptance of wind energy production: Exploring future local acceptance of wind energy production in a Swiss alpine region. Technological Forecasting and Social Change 101, 263-274. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2015.06.042
- Stadelmann-Steffen, I., Ingold, K., Rieder, S., Dermont, C., Kammermann, L., Strotz, C. (2018). Akzeptanz erneuerbarer Energie. Nationales Forschungsprogramm NFP 71, Steuerung des Energieverbrauchs, Druckerei im Bösch AG, Hühnenberg, Schweiz.
- Stoeglehner, G., Niemetz, N., Kettl, K.-H. (2011). Spatial dimensions of sustainable energy systems: new visions for integrated spatial and energy planning. Energ. Sustain. Soc. 1: 2. doi:10.1186/2192-0567-1-2
- Strazzera E, Mura M and Contu D. (2012) Combining choice experiments with psychometric scales to assess the social acceptability of wind energy projects: A latent class approach. Energy Policy 48: 334-347.
- Stremlow, M., Sidler, C. (2002). Schreibzüge durch die Wildnis: Wildnisvorstellungen in Literatur und Printmedien der Schweiz. Berne: Haupt.
- Ströbele, M., Hunziker, M. (2015). Raumansprüche der Gesellschaft. WSL Berichte No. 35, Online verfügbar unter: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/289928214_Raumanspruche_der_Gesellschaft.
- Syme, G.J., C.E. Beven, Sumner, N.R. (1993). Motivation for Reported Involvement in Local Wetland Preservation The Roles of Knowledge, Disposition, Problem Assessment, and Arousal. Environment and behavior, 25(4): p. 586-606.
- Tabi, A., Wüstenhagen, R. (2015). Befragung der Anwohner von möglichen Windparks in der Ostschweiz. Universität St. Gallen, Institut für Wirtschaft und Ökologie, pp. 58. <u>https://iwoe.unisg.ch/-/media/dateien/instituteundcenters/iwoe/news/151118_windoch_report_20151118.pdf?la=de&hash=7C415A5566090B666F3B7DF8156AD64DFDA6 B635, accessed 14.06.2019.</u>
- Torkler, D., Zeidler, M. (2013). Sichtbarkeitsanalyse von bestehenden Windenergieanlagen sowie geplanten Windeignungsfeldern für die Fläche des Nationalparks Unteres Odertal (Phase 1). Hochschule für nachhaltige Entwicklung, Eberswalde. https://www.nationalpark-unteres-odertal.eu/wp-content/uploads/2013/12/Bericht_Sicht_phase1_nlpuo_torkler_redAe20131022.pdf, accessed 14.06.2019.
- Torres-Sibille, A.d.C., Cloquell-Ballester V.-A., Cloquell-Ballester V.-A., Darton, R. (2009a). Development and validation of a multicriteria indicator for the assessment of objective aesthetic impact of wind farms. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 13: 40-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2007.05.002</u>



- Torres-Sibille, A.d.C., Cloquell-Ballester, V.-A., Cloquell-Ballester, V.-A., Ramirez, M.A.A. (2009b). Aesthetic impact assessment of solar power plants: An objective and a subjective approach. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 13, 986-999. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2008.03.012
- Ulrich, R. S. (1986). Human responses to vegetation and landscapes. Landscape and Urban Planning, 13, 29-44. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-2046(86)90005-8.
- UVPV (2016). Verordnung über die Umweltverträglichkeitsprüfung vom 19. Oktober 1988 (Stand am 1. Oktober 2016). Available online at: <u>https://www.admin.ch/opc/de/classified-compila-tion/19880226/index.html</u>, accessed 14.06.2019.
- Van der Horst, D., (2007). NIMBY or not? Exploring the relevance of location and the politics of voiced opinions in renewable energy siting controversies. Energy Policy 5, 2705-2714. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2006.12.012
- Wissen Hayek, U., Endres, L, Spielhofer, R., Grêt-Regamey, A. (2018). Sound ambiences consistent with visualizations of landscape types – An evaluation. Journal of Digital Landscape Architecture 3, 172-.180 https://doi.org/10.14627/537642018
- Wissen Hayek, U., Waltisberg, D., Philipp, N., Grêt-Regamey, A. (2016). Exploring Issues of Immersive Virtual Landscapes for Participatory Spatial Planning Support. Digital Landscape Architecture 1, 100-108. http://dx.doi.org/10.14627/537612012
- Wolsink, M. (2000). Wind power and the NIMBY-myth: institutional capacity and the limited significance of public support. Renewable Energy 21(1):49–64.
- Wolsink, M. (2007a). Wind power implementation: The nature of public attitudes: Equity and fairness instead of 'backyard motives'. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 11(6), 1188-1207. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2005.10.005
- Wolsink, M. (2007b). Planning of renewables schemes: Deliberative and fair decision-making on landscape issues instead of reproachful accusations of non-cooperation. Energy Policy, 35(5), 2692-2704. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2006.12.002</u>
- Wolsink, M. (2012). Wind Power: Basic Challenge Concerning Social Acceptance wind power social acceptance. In R. Meyers (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Sustainability Science and Technology (pp. 12218-12254): Springer New York.
- Woolcock, M., Social capital and economic development: Toward a theoretical synthesis and policy framework. Theory and society, 1998. 27(2): p. 151-208.
- Wüstenhagen, R., Wolsink, M., Bürer, M.J. (2007). Social acceptance of renewable energy innovation: An introduction to the concept. Energy Policy 35: 2683-2691.
- Yu, T., Behm, H., Bill, R., & Kang, J. (2017). Audio-visual perception of new wind parks. Landscape and Urban planning, 165, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2017.04.012.
- Zoellner, J., Schweizer-Ries, P. and Wemheuer, C. (2008). Public acceptance of renewable energies: Results from case studies in Germany. Energy Policy 36: 4136-4141.